CAN A CLINICAL DECISION SUPPORT TOOL INCREASE ADHERENCE TO A PRACTICE GUIDELINE IN CHILDREN PRESENTING TO THE EMERGENCY DEPARTMENT WITH A MINOR HEAD INJURY?

by

David J. Gutglass, MD

A CAPSTONE PROJECT

Presented to the Department of Medical Informatics and Clinical Epidemiology and the

Oregon Health & Science University

School of Medicine

in partial fulfillment of

the requirements for the degree of

Master of Biomedical Informatics

May 2013

School of Medicine

Oregon Health & Science University

CERTIFICATE OF APPROVAL

This is to certify that the Master's Capstone Project of

David J. Gutglass MD

Can a Clinical Decision Support Tool Increase Adherence to a Practice Guideline in Children Presenting to the Emergency Department with a Minor Head Injury?

Has been approved

Thomas R. Yackel MD MPH MS

Gutglass Capstone

Table of Contents

| Abstract | 1 |
|--------------------------------|--------------------|
| Introduction | 2 |
| Setting | 2 |
| Stakeholders | 2 |
| Literature Review | |
| Head Trauma Studies | |
| Radiation Exposure | 4 |
| Risk of anesthesia | |
| Anesthesia adverse events | 5 |
| Clinical Decision Support | |
| Patient Safety and Use of CDSS | |
| CDSS for Head CT | |
| Areas for Improvement in CDSS | |
| CT utilization | 7 |
| Intervention | 7 |
| Methods | |
| Study design | |
| Study Setting | |
| Subjects | |
| Selection of Patients | |
| Outcomes | |
| Analysis | |
| Results: | |
| Discussion | |
| Conclusion | |
| References | 20 |
| | |
| Gu | itglass Capstone i |

| Appendix 1 | 24 |
|------------|----|
| Appendix 2 | |
| Appendix 3 | |

Acknowledgements

I would first like to acknowledge Tom Yackel who graciously agreed to be my capstone advisor providing much needed advice along the way. Additionally, I could not have accomplished the study without the support of the analysts at Rady Children's Hospital ; Anne Stokes, Anouk Bellingi, and Krishna Daggula. I owe a great debt to my PEM fellow Matt Murray's assistance on this project. I am grateful to UCSD CTRI for awarding me the catalyst grant for this project. Many thanks to Rosanna Overholser and Lily Xu for their statistical support. Also, Diane Doctor has put up with my constant questions, emails and phone calls throughout the last 3 years. Finally, the constant of support of my loving wife throughout this whole ordeal and midlife career crisis.

Abstract

BACKGROUND: Investigators sought to determine whether or not integrating a clinical practice guideline into an electronic record (EHR) would improve adherence in pediatric patients presenting to the emergency department for minor head injury. METHODS: Twenty-seven clinicians working in a tertiary pediatric emergency department were enrolled. Clinical alerts were set to fire according to select chief complaints that could be related to head injury. A head injury navigator (HIN) was devised for clinicians to utilize and determine a risk score of serious intracranial injury (c-TBI). The pre-intervention phase included questions but no risk score revealed while the post intervention phase revealed the risk score to the clinician in real time. The primary outcome was the change in adherence to the guideline post intervention. ANALYSIS: A Welch t-test was used to compare descriptive variables pre and post intervention. The primary outcome of 'adhered' was compared between the pre and post intervention groups using a marginal logistic regression model. RESULTS: The HIN was completed 674 times. 31 patients were excluded leaving 641 patient visits. 328 patients (81%) had a positive adherence rate to the guideline preintervention as opposed to 203 (86%) post intervention. Estimated OR of the post intervention group divided by the pre intervention group was 1.345 95% CI (0.987-1.835). The number of CT imaging studies pre intervention was 70 (17%) vs. 36 (15%) p = 0.321CONCLUSION: No statistical difference was seen in pre vs. post intervention group in adherence rates or rate of CT imaging.

Introduction

Head trauma is a common complaint in the emergency department (ED), and imaging is frequently used to assess intracranial damage. It has been estimated that 50% of children being assessed for head injury get a computed tomography (CT) scan. Although rapid identification of the need for medical or surgical intervention is vital, many children who present with minor head injuries are at lower risk for clinically significant brain injury (c-TBI) and may safely be treated with careful observation rather than radiation. Scoring systems have been developed that can identify this group of patients¹.

There is wide variation in CT utilization in head injury. The outcome in emergency settings is clinically important, and the decision rule often can be clearly defined. For example whether or not a patient requires imaging. Also, there are an increasing number of studies concentrating on the development of a clinical decision rule².

There is a large degree of practice variation amongst clinicians when evaluating children with head injury in the emergency department. Substantial ED resources are consumed. In a study of adults and children, Bazarian and colleagues found that 44% of patients had CT scans to evaluate head injury, but 38% were discharged without specific follow-up. In documented head injuries, 43.8% of patients did not have this issue addressed³.

Because many hospitals are implementing electronic health records (EHR), clinical decision support (CDS) may improve the delivery of care. Shifman and colleagues have demonstrated better adherence to guidelines using computer based guideline implementation systems⁴.

Setting

A tertiary children's hospital, Rady Children's Hospital Emergency Department has 75,000 visits annually. The hospital is a level one trauma center and has a large catchment area. It is the only children's hospital and trauma center in San Diego County. It is a university hospital with a high number of children presenting with head injuries.

Stakeholders

The following is a list of stakeholders for this project.

- Chief Medical Information Officer provided institutional support for the project, facilitate project approval, and organize analysts.
- Advisor from Oregon Health & Science University (OHSU) had continual oversight of the project, making any appropriate suggestions during the project implementation.
- Pediatric Emergency Medicine staff (physicians, residents, fellows, nurse practitioners,) were the end users making the clinical decisions or intimately involved in patient care.
- Certified Epic Informaticist helped build the templates that calculated the risk assessment. Also, data analysts to run reports.

• Parents, patients, and the community at large benefit if fewer children are exposed to radiation and are potentially healthier later in life, posing less of a future economic burden.

Literature Review

Head Trauma Studies

In a large clinical trial, Kuppermann and the PECARN group developed decision rules to predict which children were at very low risk for c-TBI following a minor head injury⁵. The decision rule was derived from clinical predictors among 8,502 children and validated among 2,216 children. Two decision rules were derived based on age (see Figure 1). Use of this rule, because of its high sensitivity, could have eliminated 25% of CT scans in this study. (Fig 1)



Figure 1PECARN decision rules

Nigrovic, working within the PECARN group, followed a prospective cohort of children with minor head injury presenting to the emergency department for evalaution⁶. After patients were evaluated for minor head injury, clinicians were asked prospectively whether they chose to obtain CT scans immediately or observe patients prior to deciding on imaging. The charts were reviewed retrospectively and the children were put into one of two groups. One group was for those who were observed and the other for those who received CT rather than observation. The rates of CT scan imaging were compared between to the two groups. Children in the observation group had a lower CT rate than those in the non-observation group. The rate of intracranial injury was similar in both groups. This study was important because it supports the idea that, under certain conditions, observation can be as valuable as imaging.

Another approach to the assessment of head injury and the development of a clinical decision rule, the Canadian Assessment of Tomography for Childhood Head Injury or CATCH rule, was developed by Osmond⁷. This study took place at ten Canadian teaching hospitals. Patients were enrolled if they had blunt trauma to the head with witnessed loss of consciousness (LOC), amnesia to the event, repeated vomiting, Glasgow Coma Scale (GCS) of 13 or greater, and injury in the past 24 hours. The variables most highly correlated with brain injury were suspected open or depressed skull fracture, large boggy hematoma of the scalp, and low or deteriorating GCS.

LOC has also been studied by Dunning and incorporated in derivation of another rule, the Children's Head Injury Algorithm for the Identification of Significant Clinical Events (CHALICE) rule⁸. In this study, LOC for longer than five minutes had a positive predictive value (PPV) of 0.45. In addition, amnesia for longer than five minutes had a 0.22 PPV. Vomiting more than three times was less predictive, with a PPV of only 0.065.

Palchak and colleagues studied whether or not the length of time of LOC was a predictor of c-TBI⁹. They prospectively enrolled children with blunt head trauma and found no difference in the predictive value of LOC or amnesia relative to c-TBI.

Radiation Exposure

The rate of CT use in children with head injuries has increased greatly in recent years; one estimate suggests a 23% increase from 2000 to 2006^{10} . Development of helical CT has made imaging faster and has made dynamic imaging possible, further increasing its use¹¹.

CT utilizes ionizing radiation, increasing the risk of cancer later in life. This risk is amplified in children for several reasons. Because cancer develops over time, children have a longer period of time to express cancer resulting from radiation exposure in childhood. Children also have more dividing cells than adults. Radiation acts on dividing cells, so children are more sensitive to its effects^{12,13}.

Although CT exposure can be reduced for a child's lower weight, in practice it is not typically adjusted. This results in a dose that is higher than it would be in a heavier adult. This risk amplification is a non-linear relationship; the risk increases sharply as age at CT decreases¹¹.

Head CT can lead primarily to development of brain or thyroid cancer later in life, although it has also been associated with leukemia and cancer of the digestive tract, lung, and breast¹¹. The estimated lifetime cancer mortality risk following a head CT at one year old is one in 1500. Based on current CT usage, an estimated 2.7 million children undergo CT each year in the United States, and approximately 500 children will later die from cancer resulting from CT scans done in one year^{11,12}. Including non-fatal cancers in these estimations would increase these numbers.

One of the most effective ways to reduce exposure is through increased awareness of long-term danger of radiation. Awareness varies by profession; one survey reported that only 9% of emergency-department physicians were aware that CT exposure increases the risk of cancer, yet 47% of radiologists were aware of this¹⁴.

Risk of anesthesia

At healthcare facilities such as Rady Children's Hospital San Diego Emergency Department, propofol is used. Propofol is a rapid acting hypnosedative drug, a commonly used anesthesia for pediatric patients. Many providers use propofol to sedate children, due to its effectiveness in imaging studies, and a shorter recovery time than pentobarbital. It does not pose a higher risk of adverse events than other techniques, and has a favorable pharmacologic profile - having rapid onset and offset, and easy titration¹⁵.

Intravenous propofol administration must be conducted under direct supervision of a qualified physician with experience in airway management and cardiorespiratory pathophysiology of infants and children. Propofol is considered deep sedation, requiring continuous monitoring of the patient's physiologic functions to observe and react to adverse events, and the potential need for general anesthesia during procedures¹⁶.

Performing deep sedation of children requires more resources than in adults¹⁶. Medical history and physical examination of the child need to be taken into consideration¹⁷. The incidence of adverse events during imaging sedation/anesthesia varies according to the sedation/anesthesia technique used, the type of clinician administering in different settings, and patient demographics being sedated¹⁵. A child under sedation, despite related risks, should provide high quality diagnostic images^{17.}

Anesthesia adverse events

Although low, there are still risks involved with procedural sedation¹⁸. An eight-year study at the National Institutes of Health (NIH) Clinical Center defined adverse anesthetic events as sedation procedures with occurrences needing intervention. The NIH data revealed that adverse events occurred when anesthesia commenced (35%), during maintenance (30%), emergence from anesthesia (23%), and during recovery from anesthesia (7%). There was at least one adverse event in 534 per 10,000 anesthetic procedures¹⁵. No long lasting morbidity, mortality, or cardiopulmonary resuscitation occurred.

Sedating children incurs more risk when compared with the adult population. The risk is amplified with deeper sedation¹⁶. While under propofol, a child may move through the states of moderate sedation, deep sedation, and general anesthesia quite easily¹⁵. Propofol can also be associated with serious side effects. It should be used with caution in children who do not have American Society of Anesthesiologists class I or II and those with multiple-system or metabolic diseases¹⁹. The anxiolytic effects of propofol and relative intravascular volume depletion due to prolonged fasting were found to contribute to transient episodes of hypotension. Higher doses may also cause increased occurrences of hypotension and respiratory depression. These incidents, however, were found to be mild¹⁹.

Another study found that anesthesia risk may be tempered by the organization's ability to manage adverse events, provide adequate training, and promote safe use of the drug²⁰.

5

Although not preventable, the adverse risks in using sedatives/anesthesia are real, known, expected, and manageable^{15.}

Clinical Decision Support

Clinical decision support systems (CDSS) have been shown to make improvements in care effectiveness by increasing adherence to evidence-based care guidelines shown to positively impact patient care quality.²¹ CDSS may improve effectiveness in the high-risk, busy ED environment by assisting clinicians to increase the utilization of best-practice rules and reduce excessive use of diagnostic testing that does not improve outcomes at the point of care²².

Similar to head injury, clinical decision support reduced overuse of CT scans for diagnosis of pulmonary embolism (PE) in the ED. When the provider ordered a CT scan using electronic order entry, there were two required fields for D-dimer result and level of clinical suspicion for PE. If the patient was low or intermediate risk, decision support was given to order a D-dimer as an initial step, and if normal, the recommendation was that diagnosis of PE with a CT scan was unlikely. The provider could still bypass the recommendation based on clinical judgment. In the two years following the intervention, CT scans decreased by 20.1% and had an increase yield of a positive result for PE of the ordered scans to 69.0%. In planning the implementation of the intervention, evidence for the recommendations were communicated to ED physicians at various meetings possibly influencing the successful adoption of the CDSS recommendations and the resultant reduction CT scan overuse²³.

Though there was a range in success of the CDSS to improve quality in the realm of effectiveness of care in the ED setting, most of the studies found some positive impact of using the decision support, if success is defined as achieving the desired outcomes using the CDSS. Indicating CDSS can be a valuable tool for guideline adherence in the ED if designed properly²³⁻²⁷. As the article by Roukema²⁷ demonstrated with poor prediction of a serious bacterial infection, the decision support tools are only as successful as the guidelines they are based on and reevaluations of the tool may be necessary after implementation.

Patient Safety and Use of CDSS

Patient safety is a key component of quality to be addressed in the emergency department with the need to reduce medical errors including triage misdiagnosis²².

Various studies suggest the critical area of patient safety can be positively impacted with the use of CDSS in the high-risk, fast-paced environment of the ED. CDSS reduce the need to make decisions based on memory when time is limited to review appropriate guidelines, helping to create safer practices related to prescribing medications for the elderly and accurate triage scoring^{28,29}.

CDSS for Head CT

There is a wide variety in rates of CT utilization in Canada as well as the United States. One Canadian study demonstrated a rate of CT scan imaging ranging from 6 to 26% even

though the rate of positive CT findings were same across all hospitals included in the study³⁰. Clearly, multiple clinical decision rules are emerging, and the emergency physician must try to optimize the sensitivity of the rule as well as its precision³⁰.

In addition, real time decision support in promoting evidence based ED care could include the following³¹:

- 1. The integration of clinical decision rules at the point of test ordering in the ED
- 2. Automated presentation of evidence based guidelines at the point of ED test ordering or treatment decisions
- 3. Development of nonintrusive decision support that would decrease alert fatigue
- 4. Timely prompts for appropriate documentation

Areas for Improvement in CDSS

When evaluating areas of the CDSS that were not successful, poor compliance from clinicians was frequently identified^{24,26,29}. These findings emphasize that decision support in the EHR is a tool that can facilitate guideline adherence, but having provider support of the recommendations is critical. Involving the users in the development process, presenting the evidence for the recommendations, and addressing clinician resistance prior to implementing the tool are essential^{24,29}.

Workflow design of CDSS is another vital component impacting the success on improving care. Decision support systems that provide care recommendations within the usual workflow of the clinician, being integrated into the EHR and computerized physician order entry, and providing support at the time of care facilitate the use of by the clinician²¹.

CT utilization

There are multiple clinical decision rules for CT utilization but no real baseline of adherence to those rules as of yet. This prompted a prospective study to determine adherence to a particular rule and then decide how to decrease variation.

Intervention

To support our objectives we implemented the following interventions:

- Engaging hospital administration and health insurance carriers on the quality benefits of decreased CT usage
- Ensuring clinicians are aware of the new PECARN guidelines and the CDS tool/BPA through email, division meetings and grand rounds presentations
- Educating triage nurses on the use of the CDS template within Epic and review plan for follow-up at staff meetings and via email
- Practice use of the CDS template in Epic during a 2 week trial period
- Go-live support: Nurse and physician champions as well as the Epic helpdesk will be available 24/7 the first week for clinician support of the new CDS tool
- Provide monthly feedback on CT rates and clinical outcomes in mild head injury cases to the ED staff

To address potential barriers:

- Clinician buy-in: education for providers and nurses through various methods outlined above, physician and nurse champions
- Clinician time: the scoring template will appear as part of the usual workflow. Providers will see the best practice alert containing the recommendation when entering the history and physical into Epic.
- Financial: to mitigate decreased revenue from less CT scan usage, we anticipate health-care plans will provide incentives for reducing costs from CT use without worsening clinical outcomes. In addition, use of this tool will allow the organization to include this process in its quality reporting, ensuring compliance with meaningful use requirements to receive incentive payments.
- Technology: the Epic system has been in place for almost three years, and most of the faculty and nursing staff have been at the hospital since the original rollout. The CDS template will be uploaded in the Epic Playground for practice use and technology support will be available 24/7 for go-live.

Methods

Study design

This study was designed as a quasi-experimental interventional study to measure the change in clinician ordering behavior associated with the introduction of a computerized decision support system for patients with minor head injury presenting to the emergency department for evaluation. For the purposes of this paper, clinician will include board certified attending pediatric emergency physicians as well as nurse practitioners. Also, patients will be synonymous with patient visits.

A head injury algorithm was designed based on a clinical decision algorithm by Kuppermann and integrated into the Epic EHR.⁵ This was done in two different ways. The first was by a Best Practice Alert (BPA) and the second was through a Head Injury Navigator (HIN) that was developed by the investigators using an Epic's document flow-sheet based build.

The study was divided into pre and post intervention phases each lasting six consecutive calendar weeks. During the pre-intervention phase, clinicians used the HIN but no risk score or recommendation was given. Clinicians managed patients as usual, ordering CT imaging if it was deemed to be necessary. The post-intervention phase was identical to the pre-intervention phase except for the revelation of a risk score calculated at the end of the HIN. In addition, a recommendation was given as to whether or not a CT was recommended. If CT was not recommended the HIN would recommend "observation". There was no specific time period attached to "observation".

Patients were included if they were thought to fit the classification of minor head injury. Patients were excluded if they had a GCS of less than 14, had a history of neurosurgical problem, had a history of hemophilia or were classified as a trauma team activation either in the field or at triage if the patient was a walk in. Trauma activations were excluded because at our institution, the ultimate decision as to whether or not the child should be imaged rests with the surgeon and not the ED clinician. Patients were also excluded if imaging studies were done at an outside facility.

An estimated sample size was calculated to be 86 patients undergoing head CT for each group (α of 0.05 and power of 80%) to demonstrate an 18% increase in clinician adherence rate between the pre and post-intervention groups. This was based on prior analysis of our department's visits.

Study Setting

The study was conducted in the emergency department of a university-affiliated children's hospital. The department is a level-one pediatric trauma center that has over 75,000 visits per year and is staffed by board-certified pediatric emergency medicine physicians and nurse practitioners. Approval of the study was obtained from both the hospital and the university institutional review board. The Epic EHR version 2009 was the platform onto which the HIN and BPA were built.

Subjects

The subjects in this study were actually the clinicians. There were 17 board certified pediatric emergency medicine physicians. Two of these physicians were trained in emergency medicine and then did PEM fellowships. The remaining 15 all did pediatric residencies before their PEM fellowships. There were 5 board certified pediatricians all of whom have worked in the emergency department for over 4 years. In addition, there were 6 nurse practitioners who worked exclusively in the emergency department.

Selection of Patients

Through an iterative process, rules were developed and written to capture various chief complaints that could be possibly related to head injury. (Fig 2)

A BPA alert was set to fire if any of the selected complaints were matched on an OR condition.

May 19, 2013

Chief Complaint Criteria

Name: ED HEAD INJURY CRITERIA

| | Include Chief Complaint | 4 |
|----|--------------------------------|---|
| 1 | HEAD INJURY [137] | |
| 2 | CONCUSSION [160664] | |
| 3 | FALL [160198] | |
| 4 | POST VEHICLE CRASH [160395] | |
| 5 | NECK INJURY [160421] | |
| 6 | HEADACHE [52] | |
| 7 | HEAD LACERATION [160267] | |
| 8 | FACIAL LACERATION [160192] | |
| 9 | FACIAL INJURY [160191] | |
| 10 | EAR LACERATION [160153] | |
| 11 | EAR INJURY [160152] | |
| 12 | EYE INJURY [130016] | |
| 13 | LIP LACERATION [160367] | |
| 14 | LOSS OF CONSCIOUSNESS [160372] | |
| 15 | MOUTH INJURY [160398] | |
| 16 | TRAUMA [112] | |
| 17 | Dental Injury [160128] | |
| 18 | Nasal Fracture [2100000650] | |
| 19 | Broken Nose [2100000646] | 1 |
| 20 | | Q |

Figure 2

The BPA presented the user with three different options; cancel, complete head injury section or low risk head injury unlikely. (Fig 3) Cancel could be used at any time to ignore the BPA and search the chart for more details but unless another action was taken, every time the user reopened the chart the BPA would again fire. If the user felt the patient did not fit the parameters for the study then he or she could choose the low risk head injury unlikely radio button and the BPA disappears permanently from that particular record. If the user chose "complete head injury section" he or she would be taken to a new section of the chart where a series of questions are asked and using branching logic or what in Epic calls 'document flow-sheet cascades', which depending on the answers to the questions takes the user through until a natural stopping point.

If the BPA did not fire but the clinician felt the child fit criteria for the study then it was also possible to access the HIN in the navigator field.

May 19, 2013

| 'atient has a chief con <mark>hoose Low Risk - hea</mark> | nplaint that indicates possible head injury. Click hyper d injury unlikely. | link below to go to HEAD INJURY SECTION or |
|--|--|--|
| Acknowledge reason: | A | |
| | Low Risk, Head injury unlikely | |
| 5 COMPLETE HEAD | INJURY SECTION | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |

Fig 3

The logic for the HIN is presented in appendix 3. The flow-sheet includes both algorithms for the less than 2 and greater than 2 year old child.

Adherence was defined as follows:

1. If the recommendation was CT and the record showed a CT completion time

2. If the recommendation was No CT and the record showed no CT completion time

3. If the recommendation was Consider Observation and either no CT order or CT order greater than one hour post HIN entry time

(note: times are all within one patient encounter)

Patients of all ages and chief complaints were tested to be certain that the BPA fired appropriately and that the head injury navigator followed the algorithm exactly. The BPA and head injury template were trialed in a test environment for four weeks prior to commencing the study. In addition, these elements were moved into a live environment for a two week pilot period to assure that the BPA was firing appropriately and that the head injury navigator appeared for the appropriate providers.

All attending providers and nurse practitioners working in the emergency department signed an informed consent form to be involved in the study.

Figures 4 and 5 are screenshots demonstrating the head injury assessment tool. Figure 4

| May 19, 2013 | May | 19, 2 | 013 |
|--------------|-----|-------|-----|
|--------------|-----|-------|-----|

was used during the pre-intervention period. Figure 5 was utilized during the post-intervention period.

| 📝 Head Injury Assessment - | Head Injury Assessment |
|---|------------------------|
| Encounter: Admission (Disch 12/24/2012 in RCH Emergeno | ນີ້ |
| Date: 12/24/12 | Show Last Filed Value |
| | 🗹 Show Row Info |
| Head Injury Assess | sment |
| Age greater than 2 years? | Ves No 🔎 🗾 🖪 |
| Last Filed Value: Yes taken at 12/24/12 1612 by H | eather Conrad, MD |
| Is GCS 14 or 15 ? | Yes No 🖉 🖉 |
| Last Filed Value: Yes taken at 12/24/12 1612 by H | eather Conrad, MD |
| Are there signs of a basilar skull fracture? | Yes No 🔎 🗵 💽 |
| Last Filed Value: No taken at 12/24/12 1612 by He | ather Conrad, MD |
| Is there a history of vomiting? | Yes No 🖉 🛛 |
| Last Filed Value: Yes taken at 12/24/12 1612 by H | eather Conrad, MD |
| OTHER | |
| Head Injury Tool Complete | |

Figure 4

May 19, 2013

| 🕼 Head Injury Assessment - Head Injury Ass | essment |
|--|---|
| Encounter: Admission (Discharged) from 2/14/2013 in RCH Emergency Date: 02/14/13 | Show Last Filed ValueShow Row Info |
| Head Injury Assessment | |
| Age greater than 2 years? 🛛 🙀 Yes 🛛 No 🗎 | res 🔎 🔟 💽 |
| <u>Last Filed Value:</u> Yes taken at 02/14/13 0000 by John Kanegaye, M | D |
| ls GCS 14 or 15 ? 🛛 🙀 Yes № | res 🔎 🔟 💽 |
| <u>Last Filed Value:</u> Yes taken at 02/14/13 0000 by John Kanegaye, M | D |
| Are there signs of a basilar 🙀 Yes No I skull fracture? | No 🔎 🔟 💽 |
| <u>Last Filed Value:</u> No taken at 02/14/13 0000 by John Kanegaye, MD | |
| Is there a history of vomiting? | res 🔎 🔟 💽 |
| <u>Last Filed Value:</u> Yes taken at 02/14/13 0000 by John Kanegaye, M | D |
| Consider Observation. Injury Risk 1.1%. Tool Complete. | |

Figure 5

Note that in figure 4 that the user answers a variety of pointed questions and eventually gets prompted with Head Injury Tool complete but no risk is revealed. In figure 5, the user is given the risk and a recommendation for treatment. Also, note that the build was constructed in such a way that the user's answers were not changeable once entered. Also note that the user's entries were time stamped with the date and time.

See appendix 1 and appendix 2 for swim-lane flowcharts for both pre and post intervention pieces of the study.

Outcomes

The main outcome of interest was the proportion of clinicians adhering to the guideline before the intervention as compared to the proportion of clinicians adhering to the guideline after the intervention. The intervention was the risk of c-TBI being made available to the clinician through the HIN. Secondary outcomes included the number of CT scans ordered as well as length of stay (LOS) difference between phases . In addition adherence within the two age groups of the algorithm will also be examined.

Analysis

Statistics were done using the R Project for Statistical Computing. A Welch t-test was used to analyze excluded vs. included subjects. The primary outcome of 'adhered' was compared between the pre and post intervention groups using a marginal logistic regression model. The intervention group was a categorical covariate and a compound symmetry (also called 'uniform' or 'exchangeable') working correlation structure was used to model the dependency between patients who shared a clinician. A Wald test of the coefficient of intervention group was used to determine if the odds of adherence to the rule is significantly different after intervention.

Results:

The BPA fired 2,404 times during the study period. The HIN was completed 674 times.

31 patients were excluded leaving 641 patients for analysis. The majority of exclusions were due to patients being trauma team activations. The remaining patients were excluded because the clinician incompletely filled out the HIN.

Table 1 shows the demographic data and acuity level for both pre and post intervention groups. Acuity level 1 is the highest acuity and level 5 is the lowest. Patients age, sex and acuity level were not found to be significantly different between the two groups. Also, note that the majority of patients fell into the acuity levels 3 and 4. This follows as the patients of interest were in the "minor" head injury category and thus would not have expected to see many high acuity patients.

| May | 19, | 20 | 13 |
|-----|-----|----|----|
| | | | |

| | Ν | Pre | Post | Combined | P-value |
|--------------|-----|-------------|-------------|-------------|--------------------|
| | | N = 404 | N = 237 | N = 641 | |
| Age (years) | 641 | 6.15 (5.06) | 6.29 (5.31) | 6.20 (5.15) | 0.743 ¹ |
| Sex | 641 | | | | 0.776 ² |
| Female | | 158 (39%) | 90 (38%) | 248 (39%) | |
| Male | | 246 (61%) | 147 (62%) | 393 (61%) | |
| Acuity Level | 640 | | | | 0.506 ² |
| 1 | | 2(0%) | 2 (1%) | 4 (1%) | |
| 2 | | 59 (15%) | 46 (19%) | 105 (16%) | |
| 3 | | 143 (35%) | 85 (36%) | 228 (36%) | |
| 4 | | 174 (43%) | 91 (38%) | 265 (41%) | |
| 5 | | 25 (6%) | 13 (5%) | 38 (6%) | |

Mean (SD) for continuous variables.

N is the number of non-missing values.

Tests used:

¹t test; ²Pearson test

Table 1

| | N | Pre | Post | Combined |
|-----------------------|-----|-----------|-----------|-----------|
| | | N = 404 | N = 237 | N = 641 |
| Adhered | 641 | | | |
| No | | 76 (19%) | 34 (14%) | 110 (17%) |
| Yes | | 328 (81%) | 203 (86%) | 531 (83%) |
| Length of Stay (mins) | 641 | 201 (169) | 218 (109) | 207 (150) |
| CT | 641 | | | |
| No | | 334 (83%) | 201 (85%) | 535 (83%) |
| Yes | | 70 (17%) | 36 (15%) | 106 (17%) |

Mean (SD) for continuous variables.

 ${\it N}$ is the number of non–missing values.

Table 2

| | Guigiass capsione | | | | |
|---------|-------------------|--------------|---------------------|---------|--|
| | May 19, 2013 | | | | |
| | No. Clinicians | No. Patients | OR (95% CI) | p-value | |
| Adhered | 27 | 641 | 1.345 (0.987-1.835) | 0.061 | |
| CT | 27 | 641 | 0.858 (0.634-1.161) | 0.321 | |

Cutalaga Canatana

Table 3

Table 2 shows descriptive statistics by intervention group. Note that "adhered" means adherence to the clinical decision rule and CT indicates whether imaging was obtained.

Adherence was higher in the post intervention group 328 patients (81%) as compared to 203 patients (86%) although not statistically significant. CT imaging was higher in pre intervention group (17%) as compared to the post intervention group (15%) but again these were not statistically significant.

Table 3 shows the results of pre vs. post intervention group comparisons. The first column is the number of clinicians with at least one patient in the study while the second column is the number of patients in the study. The estimated odds ratio (95% confidence interval) is the estimated odds of adherence to the rule for the post intervention group divided by the estimated odds for the pre intervention group. The p-values were obtained from Wald tests of the null hypothesis that the OR was 1.



Figure 6

Figure 6 shows the proportion of adherence by clinician. Note that some providers did not see included patients during both periods.

Discussion

The study has shown no significant difference in adherence between both pre and post intervention groups. The reasons for this may be multivariate in origin. First, the group of clinicians that we studied are all specialists in the field of pediatric emergency medicine. The study took place at an academic medical center where residents, fellows and students all see patients and are learning clinical practice guidelines. All providers were aware of the PECARN clinical practice guideline published by Kuppermann.⁵ This may account for why there was not a statistically different difference with our intervention. This finding is not a new one in the era of clinician acceptance of CDSS. Lomotan studied a CDSS with another pediatric subspecialty of pulmonology. ³⁴ It was found that there was variable acceptance amongst subspecialists.

CDSS does not always translate into improved outcome or improved rates of adherence to clinical practice guidelines. Garg examined 100 studies involving CDSS systems and discovered a wide variety of outcomes.³⁵ Important lessons learned were user acceptance, clinical workflow integration and efficiency. Ever increasing pressures to lower throughput times combined with improving RVU performance may also contribute to clinicians ignoring clinical alerts. Alert fatigue may have also played a role as many triage chief complaints were included that may not have had anything to do with a head injury.

This study attempted to follow the Ten Commandments for Effective Clinical Decision Support as outlined by Dr. Bates.³⁶ Some might argue that a lower rate of compliance to using the HIN was due to not having a hard stop on the alert. As Bates explains, physicians strongly resist stopping and prefer to be given alternatives. The BPA used in this study included a "cancel" button so that the user could examine the chart or return to the patient to make certain to answer the question posed accurately. The tradeoff is that some clinicians never acknowledged the BPA beyond cancelling it despite the fact that it would fire each time the provider opened the chart. This may have resulted in noncompliance with filling out the HIN an subsequently the CDSS would not have been utilized.

There were limitations working in the Epic environment. The BPA graphical interface was limited to the box seen in fig. 3. The user needed two mouse clicks in order to arrive at the HIN. The size of link could not be changed, and the HIN could not be built directly into the BPA.

The next step is to further refine our model. This follows the Plan-Do-Study-Act cycle which is part of the Institute of Healthcare Improvement Model. After the analysis of the model, it is now appropriate to refine the change on what was learned from the model and launch back into the planning part of cycle once again.

Also, a qualitative study might be helpful in trying to better understand the mindset of the clinicians when faced with clinical alerts and how this affected their decision making.

Conclusion

The study showed no statistical difference with our intervention. The reasons for this are likely multifactorial. Future refinement might include finding a more effective way to integrate the CDSS into the clinical workflow. Perhaps this can be done without alerts. Natural language processing might also help identify those patients in which clinical practice guidelines might apply.

References

- 1. Crowe L, Anderson V, Babl FE. Application of the CHALICE clinical prediction rule for intracranial injury in children outside the UK: impact on head CT rate. Arch Dis Child. 2010 Dec;95(12):1017-22.
- 2. Macias CG, Sahouria JJ. The appropriate use of CT: quality improvement and clinical decision-making in pediatric emergency medicine. Pediatr Radiol. 2011 Sep;41 Suppl 2:498-504. Epub 2011 Aug 17.
- 3. Bazarian JJ, McClung J, Cheng YT, Flesher W, Schneider SM. Emergency department management of mild traumatic brain injury in the USA. Emerg Med J. 2005 Jul;22(7):473-7.
- Shiffman Richard N, Liaw Yischon, Brandt Cynthia et al, "Computer-based Guideline Implementation Systems: A Systematic Review of Functionality and Effectiveness", JAMIA, 1996, Vol.6;104-114
- 5. Kuppermann N, Holmes JF, Dayan PS, Hoyle JD Jr, Atabaki SM, Holubkov R, et al. Pediatric Emergency Care Applied Research Network (PECARN). Identification of children at very low risk of clinically-important brain injuries after head trauma: a prospective cohort study. Lancet. 2009 Oct 3;374(9696):1160-70. Epub 2009 Sep 14
- Nigrovic LE, Schunk JE, Foerster A, Cooper A, Miskin M, Atabaki SM, et al. Traumatic Brain Injury Group for the Pediatric Emergency Care Applied Research Network. The effect of observation on cranial computed tomography utilization for children after blunt head trauma. Pediatrics. 2011 Jun;127(6):1067-73. Epub 2011 May 9.
- Osmond MH, Klassen TP, Wells GA, Correll R, Jarvis A, Joubert G, et al. Pediatric Emergency Research Canada (PERC) Head Injury Study Group. CATCH: a clinical decision rule for the use of computed tomography in children with minor head injury. CMAJ. 2010 Mar 9;182(4):341-8. Epub 2010 Feb 8.
- Dunning J, Daly JP, Malhotra R, Stratford-Smith P, Lomas JP, Lecky F, Batchelor J, Mackway-Jones K; Children's Head injury Algorithm for the Identification of significant Clinical Events Study (CHALICE Study). The implications of NICE guidelines on the management of children presenting with head injury. Arch Dis Child. 2004 Aug;89(8):763-7.
- 9. Palchak MJ, Holmes JF, Vance CW, Gelber RE, Schauer BA, Harrison MJ,
- et al. Does an isolated history of loss of consciousness or amnesia predict brain injuries in children after blunt head trauma? Pediatrics. 2004 Jun;113(6):e507-13.

- 10. Menoch MJA, Hirsh DA, Khan NS, Simon HK, Sturn JJ. Trends in computed tomography utilization in the pediatric emergency department. Pediatrics 2012;129:e690-e697.
- 11. Brenner DJ, Elliston CD, Hall EJ, Berdon WE. Estimated risks of radiation-induced fatal cancer from pediatric CT. AJR 2001;176:289-296.
- 12. Brenner DJ. Estimating cancer risks from pediatric CT: going from the qualitative to the quantitative. Pediatr Radiol 2002;32:228-231.
- 13. Strauss KJ, Goske MJ, Kaste SC, et al. Image gently: ten steps you can take to optimize image quality and lower CT dose for pediatric patients. AJR 2010;194:868-873.
- 14. Johnson DA, Helft PR, Rex DK. CT and radiation-related cancer risk—time for a paradigm shift? Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2009;6:738-740.
- 15. Kiringoda R, Thurm AE, Hirschtritt ME, Koziol D, Wesley R, Swedo SE, O'Grady NP, Quezado ZM. Risks of propofol sedation/anesthesia for imaging studies in pediatric research: eight years of experience in a clinical research center. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med. 2010 Jun;164(6):554-60.
- 16. Pershad J, Gilmore B. Successful implementation of a radiology sedation service staffed exclusively by pediatric emergency physicians. Pediatrics. 2006 Mar;117(3):e413-22.
- 17. Malviya S, Voepel-Lewis T, Eldevik OP, Rockwell DT, Wong JH, Tait AR. Sedation and general anaesthesia in children undergoing MRI and CT: adverse events and outcomes. Br J Anaesth. 2000 Jun;84(6):743-8.
- Macias CG, Chumpitazi CE, "Sedation and anesthesia for CT: emerging issues for providing high-quality care." Pediatr Radiol., 2011 Sep;41 Suppl 2:517-22. Epub 2011 Aug 17.
- 19. Hasan RA, Shayevitz JR, Patel V. Deep sedation with propofol for children undergoing ambulatory magnetic resonance imaging of the brain: experience from a pediatric intensive care unit. Pediatr Crit Care Med. 2003 Oct;4(4):454-8.
- 20. Cravero JP, Beach ML, Blike GT, Gallagher SM, Hertzog JH; Pediatric Sedation Research Consortium. The incidence and nature of adverse events during pediatric sedation/anesthesia with propofol for procedures outside the operating room: a report from the Pediatric Sedation Research Consortium. Anesth Analg. 2009 Mar;108(3):795-804.
- 21. Kawamoto K, Houlihan CA, Balas EA, Lobach DF. Improving clinical practice using clinical decision support systems: a systematic review of trials to identify features critical to success. BMJ 2005 Apr 2;330(7494):765.
- 22. Burstin H. "Crossing the Quality Chasm" in emergency medicine. Acad Emerg Med 2002 Nov;9(11):1074-1077.

- 23. Raja AS, Ip IK, Prevedello LM, et al. Effect of computerized clinical decision support on the use and yield of CT pulmonary angiography in the emergency department. Radiology 2012 Feb;262(2):468-474.
- 24. Carman MJ, Phipps J, Raley J, Li S, Thornlow D. Use of a Clinical Decision Support Tool to improve guideline adherence for the treatment of methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus: Skin and Soft Tissue Infections. Adv Emerg Nurs J 2011 Jul-Sep;33(3):252-266.
- 25. Kwok R, Dinh M, Dinh D, Chu M. Improving adherence to asthma clinical guidelines and discharge documentation from emergency departments: implementation of a dynamic and integrated electronic decision support system. Emerg Med Australas 2009 Feb;21(1):31-37.
- 26. Venkat A, Chan-Tompkins NH, Hegde GG, Chuirazzi DM, Hunter R, Szczesiul JM. Feasibility of integrating a clinical decision support tool into an existing computerized physician order entry system to increase seasonal influenza vaccination in the emergency department. Vaccine 2010 Aug 23;28(37):6058-6064.
- 27. Roukema J, Steyerberg EW, van der Lei J, Moll HA. Randomized trial of a clinical decision support system: impact on the management of children with fever without apparent source. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2008 Jan-Feb;15(1):107-113.
- 28. Dong SL, Bullard MJ, Meurer DP, et al. Emergency Triage: Comparing a Novel Computer Triage Program with Standard Triage. Acad Emerg Med 2005;12(6):502-507.
- 29. Griffey RT, Lo HG, Burdick E, Keohane C, Bates DW. Guided medication dosing for elderly emergency patients using real-time, computerized decision support. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2012 Jan-Feb;19(1):86-93.
- 30. Klassen TP, Reed MH, Stiell IG et al (2000) Variation in utilization of computed tomography scanning for the investigation of minor head trauma in children: a Canadian experience. Acad Emerg Med 7:739–744.
- 31. Handel DA, Wears RL, Nathanson LA, Pines JM. Using information technology to improve the quality and safety of emergency care. Acad Emerg Med. 2011 Jun;18(6):e45-51.
- 32. AHRQ. Use of imaging studies for low back pain: percentage of members with a primary diagnosis of low back pain who did not have an imaging study (plain x-ray, MRI, CT scan) within 28 days of the diagnosis. AHRQ [online]. Available from: http://qualitymeasures.ahrq.gov/content.aspx?id=33608.
- 33. AHRQ. Epilepsy: percentage of visits for patients with a diagnosis of epilepsy who had the type(s) of seizure(s) and current frequency of each seizure type documented in the medical record. AHRQ [online]. Available from: http://qualitymeasures.ahrq.gov/content.aspx?id=32700.

34. Lomotan EA, Hoeksema LJ, Edmonds DE, Ramírez-Garnica G, Shiffman RN, Horwitz

LI. Evaluating the use of a computerized clinical decision support system for

May 19, 2013

asthma by pediatric pulmonologists. Int J Med Inform. 2012 Mar;81(3):157-65. doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2011.11.004. Epub 2011 Dec 26.

35. Garg AX, Adhikari NK, McDonald H, Rosas-Arellano MP, Devereaux PJ, Beyene J, Sam J, Haynes RB. Effects of computerized clinical decision support systems on practitioner performance and patient outcomes: a systematic review. JAMA. 2005 Mar 9;293(10):1223-38. Review.

36. Bates DW, Kuperman GJ, Wang S, Gandhi T, Kittler A, Volk L, Spurr C, Khorasani R, Tanasijevic M, Middleton B. Ten commandments for effective clinical decision support: making the practice of evidence-based medicine a reality. J Am Med Inform Assoc. 2003 Nov-Dec;10(6):523-30. Epub 2003 Aug 4.

May 19, 2013

Appendix 1



May 19, 2013



Gutglass Capstone May 19, 2013

Appendix 2







May 19, 2013





